IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI 

  

No. 2010-DP-01348-SCT 

 

CURTIS GIOVANNI FLOWERS       APPELLANT 

 

v. 

 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI       APPELLEE 

 

 

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Montgomery County, Mississippi  

Fifth Judicial District 

No. 2003-0071-CR 

 

 

 BRIEF OF APPELLANT 
 

 

        Sheri Lynn Johnson (pro hac vice) 

Keir M. Weyble (pro hac vice) 

Cornell Law School 

158-B Myron Taylor Hall 

Ithaca, NY 14853 

(607) 255-3805 (phone) 

(607) 255-7193 (fax) 

slj8@cornell.edu    

kw346@cornell.edu 

 

        Alison Steiner 

        Miss. Bar No. 7832 

        Office of the State Public Defender 

        Capital Defense Counsel Division

STATEMENT OF ISSUES 

 

I. Whether the evidence presented at Flowers’ trial was constitutionally insufficient to 

support a finding of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, as mandated by the Fifth and 

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and Section 14 of the 

Mississippi Constitution.  

 

II. Whether Flowers’ right to a fair trial, as guaranteed by Mississippi law and the 

Fourteenth Amendment to the United States constitution, was violated when the 

prosecution repeatedly argued material facts not in evidence during its guilt-or-innocence 

phase closing argument.  

 

III. Whether the in- and out- of-court eyewitness identifications of Flowers by Porky Collins 

were constitutionally unreliable and the trial court erred in overruling Flowers’ objections 

to their admission  

 

IV. Whether trial court’s exclusion of expert testimony explaining the deficiencies in law 

enforcement’s investigation, and the defects in the composition of the photo lineups 

shown to Porky Collins, violated Mississippi Law and Flowers’ right to present a defense 

as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.  

 

V. Whether the trial court erred in refusing to exclude prosecution testimony that a single 

particle of gunshot residue had been detected on flowers' hand  

 

VI. Whether the jury selection process, the composition of the venire and the jury seated, and 

pervasive racial and other bias surrounding this matter violated Flowers's fundamental 

constitutional rights protected by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments  

 

A. Whether the prosecutor violated the equal protection clause of the fourteenth 

amendment when he struck five African American jurors after utilizing disparate 

questioning and citing pretextual reasons. 

 

B. Whether the jury failed to adequately deliberate because it was influenced by racial 

bias in violation of the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the Fourteenth 

Amendment. 

 

C. Whether pervasive bias in the venire infected the fairness of the proceedings, and 

requires reversal and remand for a new trial  

 

VII. Whether  the State’s six  attempts to convict Flowers of the same offense violated the 

Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment and the Due Process Clause of the 

Fourteenth Amendment. 

 

VIII. Whether the trial court reversibly erred in refusing Flowers’ requested circumstantial 

evidence instructions at the culpability phase  

 



 

xiii 

 

IX. Whether the trial court reversibly erred in its penalty phase instructions to the jury  

 

X. Whether the convictions and death sentences in this matter were obtained in violation of 

the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and their 

counterparts in the Mississippi Constitution   

 

XI. Whether this Court should set aside its prior order denying Flowers’s Motion for Remand 

and Leave to File supplemental Motion for New Trial 

 

XII. Whether the death sentence in this matter is constitutionally and statutorily 

disproportionate 

 

XIII. Whether the cumulative effect of the errors in the trial court mandates reversal of the 

verdict of guilt and/or the sentence of death entered pursuant to it 

 

 



 

 1 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 

Procedural History 
1
 

 

In 1997, a Montgomery County Grand Jury returned  four indictments against Curtis 

Flowers, each bearing a separate charge number and each charging him with a single capital 

murder.  C.P. 5 (Montgomery County Case No. 7447, capital murder of Bertha Tardy), 6 

(Montgomery County Case No. 7448 , capital murder of Robert L. Golden), 7 (Montgomery 

County Case No. 7449, capital murder of Carmen Rigby), 8 (Case No. 7450, capital murder of 

Derrick Stewart).  The State elected to proceed to trial, first, on the Bertha Tardy indictment, 

Case No. 7447, and obtained a conviction and death sentence. While the appeal was pending in 

that matter, it then proceeded to trial, and obtained a conviction and death sentence on the 

Derrick Stewart indictment Case No. 7450.  

Both of these convictions were reversed by this Court for prosecutorial misconduct 

relating to, inter alia, introduction of evidence concerning the other separately indicted crimes in 

the trials of Flowers in the Stewart and Tardy matters. Flowers v. State, 773 So.2d 309, 321 

(Miss. 2000) (Flowers I) (Tardy indictment), Flowers v. State, 842 So.2d 531, 538 (2003) 

(Flowers II) (Stewart indictment).  Both cases were remanded to the Circuit Court of 

Montgomery County for further proceedings not inconsistent with the opinions.  

Upon remand, the prosecution was renumbered as Montgomery County Circuit Court 

Case No. 2003-0071-CR, and all subsequent  trials dealt with all four charged capital murders 

                                                 
1
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pursuant to an ore tenus statement by the trial court that it would enter an order consolidating 

them  made prior to the  first trial held after the remand.  See Flowers v. State, No. 2004-DP-

00738-SCT,  Record on Appeal at Tr. p. 2, 15, R.E. Tab 9a.  However,  the record  in this matter 

contains nothing to indicate that such an order was ever entered, or that that the State returned to 

the grand jury and obtained a multi-count indictment pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 99-7-2.  It 

also contains no sworn waiver of the right to proceed by proper indictment by Flowers.  See C.P. 

Table of Contents at –i-, R.E. Tab 1. 
2
   The case proceeded only on the basis of an Order Setting 

Cause for Trial, C.P. 1, R.E. Tab 2, in February 2004.  

The February 2004 proceedings on No. 2003-0071-CR  resulted in convictions and death 

sentences against Flowers for all four capital murders.  Those convictions were likewise reversed 

by this Court for various forms of prosecutorial misconduct, including racial discrimination by 

the prosecution in use of its peremptory challenges, and remanded to the circuit court for a new 

trial. Flowers v. State, 947 So.2d 910, 937 (Miss. 2007) (Flowers III)  

After that remand, two subsequent trials, the first (the fourth trial of Flowers on capital 

murder charges) in November 2007, in which the State did not seek the death penalty, and a 

second one in September 2008 (the fifth trial of Flowers) in which it did were held.  Both 

resulted mistrials when the juries in both were unable to reach a verdict on culpability for the 

charged crimes.  The instant appeal proceeds from the third proceeding in which the four charges 

were consolidated, the sixth trial of Flowers overall, in which the State was able to obtain 

                                                 
2
 The only statement elicited in connection with this matter from Mr. Flowers personally was an unsworn 

statement that he consented to and agreed to have the venue of any trial returned to Montgomery County. 

See Flowers v. State, No. 2004-DP-00738-SCT, Record on Appeal at Tr. p. 15. R.E. Tab 9a This Court 

takes judicial notice of its own files.   In re Dunn, 2011-CS-00255-SCT at ¶11 n. 6, 2013 WL 628646 at 

*3 (Miss. Feb. 21, 2013) (not yet released for permanent publication).   
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verdicts of conviction and death sentences for all four charged capital murders. C.P.  2803, 2914-

23, 2925-29. 
3
    

Flowers timely filed  post-trial motions. C.P. 2931-44, 2953-89.  Those were denied by 

the trial court.  C.P. 3041-42.  Flowers perfected his appeal to this Court in the time and manner 

required by the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure.  C.P. 3044-97, 3100, 3107.   

Statement of relevant facts 

 

 The facts of the case, as depicted through the evidence presented by the parties at trial, 

are described in detail below in connection with Flowers’ contention that the prosecution’s proof 

was constitutionally insufficient. He will not burden the Court by repeating them here.  In short, 

Flowers’ sixth trial bore the essential hallmarks of the three proceedings whose outcomes were 

previously reversed by this Court: weak and unreliable evidence of guilt, and prosecutorial 

misconduct undertaken to overcome that weakness.  

The evidence showed that four people were shot to death inside the Tardy Furniture Store 

in Winona, Mississippi, on July 16, 1996, and that the murder weapon was a .38 caliber handgun 

last known to have been owned and possessed by Doyle Simpson, a janitor at a local factory. Tr. 

2331-32.  Simpson, however, claimed the gun had been stolen from the glove box of his car on 

the morning of the killings. Tr. 2090. Law enforcement quickly accepted that story, and focused 

their attention instead on Flowers, who had briefly been employed at the furniture store, but had 

recently been let go after failing to report for work several days in a row. Tr. 2494-95.  

No physical evidence ever linked Flowers to the crimes, but the prosecution presented a 

                                                 
3
 The trials whose outcomes were reversed in Flowers I, II and III, and the November 2007 mistrial were 

presided over by Hon. Clarence E. "CEM" Morgan, III, the more senior circuit judge for the 5
th
 Circuit 

Court District. Following the November 2007 mistrial, the matter was reassigned to Hon. Joseph A. 

Loper, Jr., the other circuit judge for that district. C.P. 1492.  Judge Loper has been the presiding judge in 

the remaining proceedings.     
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series of witnesses intended to show that he could have stolen Simpson’s gun, and was in the 

vicinity of the furniture store on the morning of the murders. See, e.g., Tr. 2224,  2377-78, Ex. S-

115id. The prosecution supplemented that testimony by attempting to connect Flowers to an 

empty box that once contained shoes of a make and model that could have produced a bloody 

print observed at the crime scene, Tr. 2608-09, 2856, 2864,  by showing that a single (and 

concededly non-probative) grain of gunshot residue had been found on his hand, Tr. 2615, 2630-

32, and by presenting a jailhouse informant and self-confessed perjurer to claim Flowers had 

admitted guilt, Tr. 2416-70. The defense challenged all of this evidence, highlighting the 

material inconsistencies in the witnesses’ accounts, see Argument I.D.1.a., infra, and the biases 

and sheer unreliability of the witnesses themselves, see, e.g., Tr. 2048-62, 2224-25, 2235, 2416-

70, 2820, 2844-4, see also Arguments I, and V, infra, demonstrating the absence of probative 

value in the shoe print and the lone particle of gunshot residue, Arguments I.D.3,  V, infra, and 

raising substantial questions about law enforcement’s premature exclusion of Simpson as a 

suspect.  See Argument I.E.1, infra.  

As with the prior proceedings, Flowers’ sixth trial once again saw the prosecution resort 

to unlawful and unfair tactics to compensate for the weakness of its proof.  For example, 

although this Court had previously condemned the State’s use of rank misstatements of fact in 

closing argument, the prosecutors not only used the same strategy this time, but also 

misrepresented some of the very same facts once again.  See Argument II, infra.  Likewise, 

despite this Court’s strong admonition in the decision reversing Flowers’ convictions after the 

third trial, the State again engaged in purposeful race discrimination during jury selection, this 

time using a somewhat more sophisticated (but no less impermissible) approach than it had 
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before. See Argument IV.A., infra.  The impact of these and other undue advantages enjoyed by 

the State was further exacerbated by the trial court, which refused to exclude non-probative, 

prejudicial evidence offered by the prosecution, see Tr. 2268-81, refused to admit defense 

evidence to rebut it, see Tr. 3122-23, and declined to provide the jury with instructions to which 

Flowers was entitled under state and federal law.  Each of these errors, among others, is 

discussed in detail below. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

At the threshold, the State’s evidence implicating Flowers was so flimsy as to be 

constitutionally insufficient to sustain the convictions.  Flowers motions for a directed verdict 

and peremptory instructions were therefore erroneously denied and his convictions must be 

reversed and rendered.  (Argument I).  Similarly,  prosecution in this matter, or at least seeking a 

death sentence against Flowers, is in any event barred by considerations of double jeopardy and 

fundamental fairness due to the repeated attempts at prosecution and the misconduct committed 

by the prosecution during those attempts, and for other defects in the indictment and prosecution 

of this matter. (Arguments VII, X)  

Even if the prosecution against Flowers is neither entirely barred, nor founded on 

insufficient evidence, the instant convictions must be reversed because the blatant re-commission 

by the prosecutor  of the kind of misconduct that this Court has previously condemned deprived 

Flowers of a fundamentally fair trial. (Argument II).  Indeed, this Court should reconsider its 

decision not to remand for development of the record on additional instances of misconduct that 

were not discovered until after this appeal was in process. (Argument XI).    

That deprivation was exacerbated by multiple reversible evidentiary errors by the trial 
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court  at the culpability phase of the trial.  It  erroneously denied Flower’s motion to exclude, 

Collins as unreliable and tainted by unconstitutionally suggestive  police conduct, the purported 

eyewitness identification of Flowers by State’s witness Porky Collins. (Argument III) It also 

abused its discretion and violated the Mississippi Rules of Evidence in preventing Flowers from 

adducing expert testimony from a leading published scholar and researcher on the cognitive 

issues affecting the reliability of eyewitness identifications concerning relevant factors present in 

this case. (Argument IV).  The trial court also reversibly erred in permitting a State ballistics 

expert to testify over Flowers’ objections concerning a single particle of gunshot residue 

collected from Flowers in the Winona police department. (Argument V) This deprivation was 

also amplified by the failure of the trial court to properly instruct the jury at either the culpability 

or sentencing phases of the trial. (Arguments VII, VIII) 

Indeed, the entire process by which Flowers was tried was defective. As a consequence, 

he was deprived of a fair trial before a properly constituted jury free from outside influence and 

bias.  As was the case in Flowers v. State, 947 So.2d 910 (Miss. 2007), the jury selection process 

was unconstitutional due to racial discrimination by the prosecution  in its exclusion of black 

jurors for pretextual reasons. The jury selected was imbued with racial discrimination that 

pervaded the entire prosecution of this matter, as well. The venire, and the jury seated from it, 

was also rife with pervasive bias and outside influence, including excessive law enforcement 

contact throughout the process, but the trial court erroneously failed to take any of the remedial 

actions requested by Flowers to ameliorate it.  As a result of these things, the jury failed to attend 

to adequately deliberate guilt and further failed to undertake its sentencing responsibilities free 

from outside influences. (Argument VI).    
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Finally, the convictions and death sentences here were the product of cumulative error, 

were unconstitutionally imposed, and the sentence is disproportionate even if the conviction 

were warranted. (Arguments X, XII, XIII).  For all of these reasons, the convictions against 

Flowers must be reversed. 

ARGUMENT 

Standard of Review 

Capital murder convictions and death sentences are reviewed on direct appeal under a 

“heightened scrutiny” standard of review. Fulgham v. State, 46 So.3d 315, 322 (Miss. 2010) 

(reversing sentence), Walker v. State, 913 So.2d 198, 216 (Miss. 2005); Balfour v. State, 598 

So.2d 731, 739 (Miss.1992) (citing Smith (Grady) v. State, 499 So.2d 750, 756 (Miss.1986) 

“[P]rocedural niceties give way to the search for substantial justice, all because death undeniably 

is different.” Hansen v. State, 592 So.2d 114, 142 (Miss.1991).   

Under this standard of review, this Court, inter alia, considers trial errors for their 

cumulative impact; applies the plain error rule with less stringency; relaxes enforcement of its 

contemporaneous objection rule; and resolves all genuine doubts in favor of the accused.  In 

sum, what may be harmless error in a case with less at stake becomes reversible error when the 

penalty is death. Fulgham, 46 So.3d at 322.  See also Flowers v. State, 773 So.2d 309, 317 

(Miss. 2000), Walker v. State, 913 So.2d at 216 (citing Irving v. State, 361 So.2d 1360, 1363 

(Miss. 1978), Fisher v. State, 481 So.2d 203, 211 (Miss.1985).   

Moreover, as a matter of constitutional law, where constitutional error has occurred, and 

deprived a defendant of a fundamental right, prejudice must be presumed unless the State can 

demonstrate the error to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Smith v. State, 986 So.2d 290, 
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300 (Miss. 2008) (citing Arizona v. Fulminante,  499 U.S. 279, 296 (1991), Delaware v. Van 

Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 674, (1986). 

I. THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT FLOWERS’ TRIAL WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY 

INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A FINDING OF GUILT BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT, AS 

MANDATED BY THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES 

CONSTITUTION, AND SECTION 14 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION. 

 

Flowers has been tried six times in connection with a notorious 1996 quadruple homicide 

at a family owned furniture store in the small Montgomery County town of Winona, Mississippi.  

After three reversals for prosecutorial misconduct
4
 and two hung juries on the question of guilt 

or innocence, a jury of eleven locally drawn whites and one African-American convicted 

Flowers of capital murder and sentenced him to death.  That verdict – reached after only 29 

minutes of ostensible deliberation – cannot be sustained.  For although the prosecution presented 

twenty-three witnesses in its cases in chief and rebuttal, the whole of their testimony was much 

less than the sum of its parts.  There has never been any direct, physical, or forensic evidence 

connecting Flowers to the crime; the motive and methods ascribed to Flowers by the prosecution 

were implausible on their face; and the witnesses relied upon for patching together a 

circumstantial case for guilt were by turns objectively unbelievable, contradictory, or unable to 

provide anything of legitimate probative value.  

The prosecution’s evidence thus amounted to nothing more than a far-fetched tale that no 

                                                 
4
 See Flowers v. State, 773 So.2d 309, 321 (Miss. 2000) (Flowers I) (finding prosecutor employed “a trial 

tactic ... to continuously bring in unnecessary [and inadmissible] evidence” which was “egregious”); id. at 

328-30 (finding prosecutor acted “in bad faith” during cross-examination of defense witness, and misled 

the jury using information not in evidence); Flowers v. State, 842 So.2d 531, 538 (2003) (Flowers II) 

(finding that prosecution again “employed a tactic or trial strategy of” presenting inadmissible, prejudicial 

evidence, and again “repeatedly argued facts not in evidence”); Flowers v. State, 947 So.2d 910, 937 

(Miss. 2007) (Flowers III) (finding that prosecution’s use of all fifteen of its peremptory strikes against 

African-Americans “evince[d] an effort by the State to exclude [them] from jury service” in violation of 

the Equal Protection Clause); see also id. at 935 (“The instant case presents us with as strong a prima 

facie case of racial discrimination as we have ever seen in the context of a Batson challenge ....”). 
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fair-minded, rational, and impartial juror could believe, let alone certify as proof beyond a 

reasonable doubt that Flowers was guilty of capital murder.
5
  Furthermore, at the same time it 

was failing to make a creditable case for Flowers’ guilt, the prosecution’s evidence revealed the 

distinctly stronger possibility that another man (or, more likely, two or more) had actually 

committed the crime.  As set forth below, this combination compels a finding – long overdue in 

this case – that the evidence against Flowers did not, and cannot, support his convictions under 

Mississippi law and the United States Constitution. 

A. Relevant legal principles. 

 “[T]he Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects a defendant in a 

criminal case against conviction ‘except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact 

necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged.’” Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 

315 (1979), quoting In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. XIV  See also,

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