#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **CURTIS GIOVANNI FLOWERS**

versus

**Appellant** 

Appellee

No. 2010-DP-01348-SCT

#### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE** 

#### JIM HOOD

ATTORNEY GENERAL STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **MELANIE THOMAS**

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Miss. Bar. No. 101016 Counsel of Record

#### **CAMERON BENTON**

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Miss. Bar No 101207

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL Post Office Box 220 Jackson, Mississippi 39205 Telephone: (601) 359-3680 Telefax: (601) 359-3796 mthom@ago.state.ms.us

### **

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

#### A. Sam Jones's Testimony Regarding His Arrival at Tardy Furniture

Appellant argues the State repeated past mistakes when, during the direct examination of Sam Jones in the case *sub judice*, the State attempted to change Jones's attested arrival at Tardy Furniture on the day of the murders, from 9:15 to 10:00 a.m. The State then allegedly compounded its past mistakes when it argued, during closing, that Jones testified he arrived at Tardy at 10:00 a.m.

Appellant's argument is procedurally barred twice-over and moreover, is without substantive merit. Appellant, in his argument to this Court, omits key information. First of all, Sam Jones did not personally testify at the trial of the case *sub judice*. Sam Jones died prior to Flowers's 2010 trial. In lieu of live testimony, the State read into the record a transcript of Sam Jones's testimony from Flowers's 2007 trial. R. 1895. During that 2007 trial Jones testified he arrived at Tardy Furniture at approximately 9:15 a.m. on the morning of the murders. The State, in response, asked Jones if his arrival was "going to be closer on up to 10 o'clock." Exh. Vol. 2, R. 9. The trial court overruled defense counsel's objection to the question; however, Jones never answered the question.

This is the only portion of Flower's 2007 trial which Appellant has made part of the record of the case *sub judice*. Absent from the present record includes the State's closing argument from 2007. This would include both the State's comments about Jones's time line, and

any objections Flowers's own defense team did, or did not, make. The burden rests upon the Appellant "to see to it that the record contain[s] all data essential to an understanding and presentation of matters relied upon for reversal on appeal." *Shelton v. Kindred*, 279 So. 2d 642, 644 (Miss. 1973) (citing *Willenbrock v. Brown*, 239 So. 2d 922, 925 (Miss. 1970)).

Also conveniently omitted from Appellant's present argument is the fact that, during the appeal of his 2007 conviction and sentence, Flowers did not argue the State's questioning of Jones constituted reversible error. Flowers did not argue that the State's subsequent closing argument constituted reversible error. Nor did this Court find such error to have existed.

Therefore, although Appellant classifies the State's actions as "past mistakes," not even Appellant himself felt those mistakes worthy enough to bring to this Court's attention when they first occurred in 2007. This issue was procedurally barred as of 2007, when Appellant failed to bring to this Court's attention the exact testimony as was re-submitted in the instant trial.

Appellant's contention is procedurally barred a second time as well. The State, in the instant case, read Jones's 2007 testimony into the record. As shown above, Flowers did not allege in 2007 that such testimony, or any resulting closing argument, constituted error. Relevant here is the fact that Flowers <u>also</u> did not make any such allegations at the trial of the case *sub judice*. In his current direct appeal brief Flowers admits to knowing, as of 2007, that the State's attempt to lead Jones into changing his arrival time from 9:15 to 10:00 a.m. was reversible error. Why then, when Jones's transcript was being read into evidence in this most recent trial, did Flowers not seek to redact the relevant portion of that testimony? Further, why did Flowers not object to the State's comment during closing argument? Flowers, when presented with this allegedly critical issue in 2007, made no attempt to appeal that issue to this Court. When the fact pattern allegedly repeated itself in 2010, Flowers made no objection during the testimony itself, or during the closing argument.

A trial court cannot be put in error on matters not presented to it for decision. *Moawad v. State*, 531 So. 2d 632, 634 (Miss. 1988). *See Walker v. State*, 823 So. 2d 557 (Miss. App. 2002) (failure to raise issue at trial level bars consideration at appellate level). Failure to lodge a contemporaneous objection constitutes a procedural bar. *Hughes v. State*, 90 So. 3d 613, 624 (Miss. 2012). This assignment of error is barred from review. *Howard v. State*, 507 So. 2d 58, 63 (Miss. 1987).

Notwithstanding any controlling procedural bars, Appellant's claim is substantively without merit. Appellant, in an attempt to characterize the State as a wicked entity, sneaking in past mistakes when it thinks this Court will not notice, leapfrogs over Jones's 2007/2010 testimony, back to the testimony Jones presented in 2003, and back to the State's closing arguments in 2003. In Flower's 2003 trial, the issue on appeal was whether Jones had testified to receiving the call from Bertha Tardy at 9:30, or arriving at Tardy at 9:30 (again, factually distinct from this ten-years post issue, and also factually different from the testimony Jones gave in 2007—the testimony at issue in this case). This Court summarized the relevant facts:

Flowers cites to at least fourteen different comments by the State which he believes are improper. Over one-half of the comments relate to the State's accusing the defense witnesses of either changing their stories or trying to get prosecution witnesses to lie for the defendant.

\*\*\*

The remaining comments cited by the defense concern alleged misstatements of facts by the prosecution. Two examples cited by Flowers involve the prosecutor's closing arguments to the jury about the testimony of Sam Jones and Robert Campbell. The prosecutor argued [during closing] Jones had testified that at 9:30 a.m., he received a call from Bertha Tardy to come to the store, while defense counsel asserted in his objection that Jones had testified that he received the call at 9:00 a.m. and arrived at the store at 9:30 a.m. After the trial judge ruled that the jury would recall the evidence and that "[t]his is argument," the prosecutor fired the last shot by stating before the jury, "[Jones] said he received a call around 9:30. I recall; I wrote it down."

After a thorough examination of the record, it is clear from Jones's testimony that he testified he arrived at Tardy's at 9:30. He never once stated he was called at 9:30 on the morning of July 16, but he did testify he arrived at the store around 9:30. On direct examination, the State never questioned Jones about a specific time. He only stated he received a call from Mrs. Tardy on the morning of July 16. On cross-examination, Jones was asked what time he arrived at Tardy's, and he answered that it was around 9:30.

Flowers v. State, 842 So. 2d 531, 555-56.

Neither Jones's 2003 testimony nor the State's 2003 closing argument were presented to the instant jury or contained in the record of the case *sub judice*. Moreover, Jones's 2003 testimony and the State's 2003 closing argument were a single part of a cumulative pattern of prosecutorial misconduct which necessitated reversal: "Flowers lists several other instances where the State misstated testimony of witnesses. The cumulative effect of the State's repeated instances of arguing facts not in evidence was to deny Flowers his right to a fair trial." *Flowers*, 842 So. 2d at 556 (emphasis added). Thus, in 2003 Flowers objected when the State made no less than fourteen mischaracterizations of evidence; and this Court held that such cumulative instances of misconduct constituted error. Yet, not one of those fourteen mischaracterizations occurred in the case *sub judice*. Thus, nothing from the 2003 trial suggests that the State's current actions (for not even the State can be convicted twice for the same crime) are improper or justify reversal of Flowers's current conviction or sentence.

Accordingly, the only relevant issues here on direct appeal are whether the State erred in asking Jones if he actually arrived at Tardy at 10:00 instead of 9:15, and whether the State erred in stating, during closing argument, that Jones arrived at Tardy at 10:00.

The State submits the answers to each of those questions is "no," and that the true reason for Flowers's failure to object to this testimony in 2007, failure to appeal on this issue in 2007, and failure to object or move to redact this event in 2010, is that the issue itself is meritless. The substance of Jones's 2007 testimony (read to the jury in the case *sub judice*) is thus:

Jones, who was 87 years of age at the time he testified, told the jury that Bertha Tardy called him "about 15 minutes after 9:00, I think, when she called, somewhere along in there." Exh. Vol. 2, R. 7. He then told the jury that, after receiving the call from Ms. Tardy, he left his home on Harper Street, drove to Tardy Furniture, and reached the store "between 9:15 and 9:30." Exh. Vol. 2, R. 8. Jones then corrected himself and said that "it wasn't 9:30" when he reached the store; instead he arrived "between 9:15 or right around that time." Id. Jones's confusing account to the jury was, therefore, that the call from Bertha Tardy, the drive from his house to Tardy, and his arrival at Tardy, all occurred at approximately 9:15 a.m.

Jones then testified that he stayed at Tardy no more than 10-15 minutes before he left the store, hurriedly walked three doors down to another business, and asked the store owner to call 911. Exh. Vol. 2, R. 21, 25-26. Flowers's own defense team suggested to Jones that he had not stayed at Tardy for that full 10-15 minutes, as Jones had testified; defense counsel asked Jones, "Is it fair to say that you probably didn't stay in there that long, or do you know?" Exh. Vol. 2, R. 31. Jones responded, "I didn't look at my watch standing there. I just went in there, you know, just to, looked at each one of them. And then I left out to go get help for them." *Id*.

This line of questioning further muddled Jones's own timeline. Why? Because 911 records show the Tardy Furniture call was made at 10:20 a.m. If Jones had, indeed, arrived at 9:15, stayed by what even defense counsel suggested was less than 15 minutes, walked three doors down and immediately secured someone to call 911, then that 911 call would have come in roughly 40 minutes earlier than it actually did. This suggests Jones was incorrect when he testified that he was called to Tardy, drove to Tardy, and arrived at Tardy, all at 9:15 a.m.

Is the State allowed to ask Jones if he, in fact, arrived at Tardy at 10:00 instead of 9:15? Yes. The State is not allowed to engage in leading questions. However, Appellant has presented no case which suggests asking a witness a single leading question warrants reversal in a capital case. Moreover, the State can use direct examination to clarify a witness's testimony, especially when that testimony appears contradicting. Mississippi Rule of Evidence 611(c), which generally prohibits leading questions, states that "[1]eading questions should not be used on the direct examination of a witness except as may be necessary to develop [the witness's] testimony." *See generally Anderson v. State*, 62 So. 3d 927 (Miss. 2011) (leading on direct allowable where witness was young, and question was used to clarify testimony regarding dates alleged in the indictments).

When Jones provided a timeline that appeared self-contradictory, and did not match up with the timing of the 911 call, the State was justified in attempting to clarify that contradiction, asking Jones whether some of his testimony was wrong. Therefore, there is no error in the State asking Jones whether, in light of the testimony as a whole, he arrived at Tardy closer to 10 a.m.

Is the State allowed to argue, during closing, that Jones "said" he arrived at 10 a.m.? No. However, the State did not do this. The State made a singular point: it argued that Jones "came into the store slightly after 10:00 a.m." This is not what Jones himself testified. Yet, it is arguable based on both Jones's own testimony and the other evidence presented to the jury. The evidence as a whole shows that the 911 call came in at 10:20. Mary Fleming saw Flowers headed to Tardy Furniture at 9:00 a.m. Charles Collins saw Carmen Rigby at the post office shortly after 9:00 a.m.; the two spoke for ten to fifteen minutes before Rigby left for Tardy Furniture. Collins then saw Flowers in front of Tardy Furniture, walking toward that store, at around 10:00 a.m. Clemmie Flemming saw Flowers running away from Tardy at 10:00 a.m., forty-five minutes after Jones testified he arrived at the crime scene.

The timeline outlined by the State during closing also was supported by Jones's testimony as a whole. Despite Jones's statement that he arrived at Tardy at 9:15 a.m., his testimony as a whole showed that 1) he could not have received a call to drive to the store, driven to the store, arrived and entered the store, all at the exact same time, and 2) he could not have arrived at 9:15, stayed no longer than 15 minutes, and then, at approximately 9:30, hurriedly walked three doors down to make a 911 call which occurred forty minutes later.

To the extent this Court feels the prosecution did mischaracterize the evidence, the State submits this was harmless error. While the State made a singular comment about Jones's arrival at Tardy, it was the defense, in fact, which capitalized on Jones's statement. During closing argument, defense counsel reminded the jury that Jones had actually testified to arriving at Tardy as early as 9:00 a.m.:

[Y]ou know, his testimony, I looked it up as they [the State] were saying that. His original testimony was he might have gotten there, started his voyage to go in to—as early as 9:00. He, he thought maybe he got there closer to 9:30. But we know from the police that the call came in at 10:20. And if you will remember, Mr. Jones also told you he thought it might have been 15 minutes before he recovered himself enough to go and actually make the report. So there is a bunch of time in there.

R. 3228-29.

Thus, while the State characterized the cumulative evidence as showing Jones entered Tardy Furniture at 10:00, Appellant countered by arguing that she "looked it up" and what Jones actually <u>said</u> was that he arrived at Tardy Furniture "as early as 9:00," or "closer to 9:30." To the extent the State's comment was intended to mischaracterize Jones's testimony, any mischaracterization became harmless after defense counsel cured the alleged error<sup>5</sup>.

Moreover, even if the State had conceded during closing that Jones testified to arriving at 9:15, it would not have caused the jury to acquit Flowers, based on the overwhelming evidence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Notwithstanding the fact that defense counsel's characterization of Jones's testimony, having "looked it up," also was inaccurate.

against him. There was enough time missing in Jones's own timeline as to make any comment by the State negligible in terms of jury deliberations. Taken in context, the State's single comment was proper.

Finally, any error which did occur, and was not harmless, was both harmless and cured by the limiting instruction in C-1 given by the trial court:

It is your duty to determine the facts and to determine them from the evidence produced in open court. You are to apply the law to the facts and in this way decide the case. You should not be influenced by bias, sympathy or prejudice. Your verdict should be based on the evidence and not upon speculation, guesswork or conjecture. [...] The evidence which you are to consider consists of the testimony and statements of the witnesses and the exhibits offered and received. You are also permitted to draw such reasonable inferences from the evidence as seem justified in light of your own experience. Arguments, statements, and remarks of counsel are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law, but are not evidence. If any argument, statement, or remark has no basis in the evidence, then you should disregard that argument, statement, or remark.

C.P. 2782.

In *White v. State*, 542 So. 2d 250 (Miss. 1989), the State inferred that the defendant had been stealing from his company, in order to suggest a motive for the charged shooting. No evidence was presented that White, in fact, stole any money. This Court held that while the inference was inappropriate without supporting proof, any error was cured by the giving of a limiting instruction—exactly like the one given to Flowers's jury—to disregard statements which have no basis in the evidence. *White*, 542 So. 2d at 254. According to White, "it being a presumption that jurors follow instructions presented to them, any error was harmless." *Id*.

#### **B.** Flowers's Reaction to Being Fired from Tardy Furniture

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